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City of Mercer Island 
9611 SE 36th Street 
Mercer Island, WA 98040 
 
Attn: Robin Proebsting, Senior Planner 
 
Subject:  Edward Mills Property – 5236 W Mercer Way 

Wetland Delineation Professional Opinion Concurrency Letter 
  
Dear Mr. Proebsting:  

This professional opinion concurrence letter provides a brief summary of our review of the wetland 

delineation and rating conducted by Red Wing Environmental at 5200 Block West Mercer Way, 

Mercer Island, Washington 98040 (Tax Parcel Number 192405-9324). PACE’s scope includes 

preparing a professional opinion concurrence letter based on findings from an on-site review of the 

wetland delineation, conducting an independent review of the wetland rating using the Washington 

Department of Ecology 2014 rating system, commenting on any differences found in the delineation, 

data or rating, and commenting on the proposed buffer averaging and mitigation plan.    

Site Review of Wetland Delineation  

PACE staff visited the site on March 12, 2018. The purpose of the site visit was to observe the site 

conditions on the property and review the wetland delineation and rating performed by Mark Rigos, 

P.E. and Chris Holcomb, Wetland Specialist.  

Wetlands 
PACE staff surveyed the project site to verify the location of the stream and associated slope wetland 
as delineated by Mark Rigos and Chris Holcomb (Red Wing Environmental) in 2017.  Site conditions 
were assessed based on the methodology in the Western Mountains, Valleys, and Coasts Regional 
Supplement to the Corps of Engineers 1987 Wetlands Delineation Manual. The methodology outlined 
in the manual is based upon three essential characteristics of wetlands: (1) hydrophytic vegetation; (2) 
hydric soils; and (3) wetland hydrology.  Field indicators of these three characteristics must all be 
present in order to determine that an area is a wetland (unless problem areas or atypical situations 
are encountered). Once the field survey was completed and field data collected, a review of the 
Critical Areas Study for the Edward Mills Property was done to compare data. With very minor 
exception, the wetland was located as mapped in 2017. The soils and vegetation were as stated on 
the data forms and the wetland rating form was reviewed and found to accurately classify the wetland 
as a Category IV wetland. A drawing showing the location of sample points and the wetland boundary 
is provided.  

Finding: PACE concurs with the wetland delineation performed on the subject parcel in 2017.  

Wetland Rating 

PACE reviewed the Wetland Rating Form – Western Washington Updated Oct 2008 prepared by Red 

Wing Environmental. PACE’s review did not result in a different rating.  

Finding: PACE concurs that the wetland is a Category IV wetland.  
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Watercourse 

Based on the March 2018 site visit, the Type 3 stream running east to west at the south property line 
is also accurately classified, located and described as having a down gradient of about 30 percent 
and being about 18 inches wide and 4 inches deep. The riparian vegetation consists mostly of 
Himalayan blackberry (Rubus bifrons) and English ivy (Hedera helix) with some sword fern and 
salmonberry. The overhead canopy is mostly red alders (Alnus rubra) from upslope with some Indian 
plum (Oemleria cerasiformis).   

Finding: PACE concurs that the stream on site is a NF – Non-fish bearing Type 3 water course.   

Mitigation Plan  

Because of the physical limitations of the site the proposed project will encroach into the 25-foot 

reduced wetland buffer.  The wetland reports point out that “Buffers can be altered to accommodate 

development by either buffer reduction or through a buffer averaging approach.” The Red Wing 

Report does not go into detail on the reduction and buffer averaging. The mitigation details are found 

on the Mitigation Plan Sheet W.1.0 which details the planting and shows an additional buffer area in 

the southeast corner of the property which extends 20-feet outside of the required 35-foot buffer. The 

mitigation calls for the removal of noxious and invasive species including Himalayan blackberry 

(Rubus bifrons) and English ivy (Hedera helix) and subsequent plantings along with a 5-year 

monitoring plan for the plant installations.  

Finding: PACE recommends that the Mitigation Plan be revised to address the following: 

• The mitigation plan should be updated to include labels to better locate the wetland and the 

wetland buffer. 

• The noxious and invasive weed removal areas should include both the entire wetland and 

buffer areas, to improve the chances of controlling these aggressive invasive non-native 

plants.   

• The mitigation plan should include a table of figures to quantify the areas of buffer impact and 

the areas proposed for mitigation to provide analysis of no net loss. 

• Removal instructions should say, “Where encountered, invasive weed species should be 

removed manually, from the wetland and buffer areas, without the use of herbicides except in 

rare cases when applied by a state licensed herbicide applicator.”  

• The mitigation plan should include a table of figures to quantify the areas of impact and the 

areas proposed for mitigation to provide analysis of no net loss.  

• The number of plant stock materials should be revised to reflect the additional mitigation 
areas.   

• We don’t recommend planting highly aggressive natives such as soft rush (Juncus effusus) 
because they tend to form monocultures. If site conditions suit them, they will probably move 
in anyway. 

• We recommend cutting back on the manna grass (Glyceria grandis) which can be aggressive 
and better suited in wet meadows.  We recommend replacing or mixing with slough sedge 
(Carex obnupta) which is good for steep wet slopes and small-fruited bulrush (Scirpus 
microcarpus).  

• Existing trees should be better shown to help show where new plantings are proposed and to 
show that crowding won’t be a problem 
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• Recommend cutting back on Red Cedar and adding Sitka spruce (Picea sitchensis) and 

Western hemlock (Tsuga heterophylla) into the mix for trees.   

• Recommend adding the following to the shrub mixture; Indian plum (Oemleria cerasiformis), 

Bald-hip rose (Rosa gymnocarpa), Sitka willow (Salix sitchensis), and Black twinberry 

(Lonicera involucrata). 

• The Critical Areas sign on the plan is for King County.  

• On Sheet W1.0, the note stating, “Area is well vegetated”, the existing vegetation is not shown 

or identified.  

• On Sheet W1.0, the note stating, “End new split rail fence at south prop. Line”, appears to 

point to the orange checkered NDPE fence.  

• The Legend lists temporary shoring, which is not visible on the plan, wetland flags, which are 

also not visible on the plan, and sample point Flag #s, also not visible on the plan. 

Recommend that these items be removed from the legend or made visible on the plan sheet.  

Eagle Nests 

The area was also surveyed for eagle’s nests. The City of Mercer Island has 13 nests mapped on the 
island. However, while there are trees on and near the site that could be used as perch trees, no 
nests were observed within 1,000 feet of the project property and the nearest mapped nest is at least 
1,600 feet to the northeast of the project site.  

Finding: No eagles nests found within 1,000 feet of property. 

Conclusion 

It is staff’s professional opinion, that the wetland has been delineated and the Category rated 

correctly. The stream is a NF (Type 3). There are no eagle nests within 1,000 feet of the property. 

Finally, with the recommend revisions the wetland buffer mitigation plan and proposed buffer 

averaging plan appear to meet the City of Mercer Island requirements. PACE agrees with the overall 

mitigation proposed based on our recommendation.  

If you have any question or concerns, please contact Eilean Davis, at 425.827.2014 or 

eileand@paceengrs.com.  

Respectfully,  

PACE Engineers, Inc. 

 
Robert Knable 
PWS, Sr. Wetland Scientist 

 
 
cc:   
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Attachments: 
1. Wetland Buffer Mitigation Plan, dated 4/16/2018, produced by Mark Rigos, 440 SE Darst 

Street, Issaquah, WA 98027, 425.652.6013 






